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About This Report

This Annual Report documents how Visit Victoria 
performed during the 2017-2018 year.

All source material can be found on Visit Victoria’s 
website at corporate.visitvictoria.com

The Victorian Auditor General’s Office has 
independently audited the financial report and 
concludes that it presents fairly, in all material aspects, 
the financial position of Visit Victoria as at 30 June 2018.
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Annual Report, contact Visit Victoria on  
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Our strategy is clear; to remain on target 
we must continue to invest equally across 
our three key segments: intrastate, 
interstate, and international – and that’s 
why, for the first time in six years, we have 
delivered campaigns for each of the key 
segments simultaneously. Our intrastate 
campaign Wander Victoria, interstate 
campaign A Twist At Every Turn, and 
international China Campaign, have all 
coincided with significant increases in 
expenditure for each segment.

Following several major events coups and 
recently taking home the international 
2018 Ultimate Sports City Award for Best 
Major Events Strategy, we’ve maintained 
our status as the nation’s major 
events capital. Securing international 
blockbusters such as the 2019 Presidents 
Cup, Harry Potter and the Cursed Child - 
Parts One and Two, Men’s and Women’s 
ICC World T20 Finals at the MCG in 2020, 
Australian Boomers vs USA National 
Team and Come From Away musical has 
truly set us apart from the pack on the  
global stage.

Through the Victorian Government’s 
significant investment in more than  
160 regional events we’ve supported 
regional visitation and economies 
through key events, such as Matildas vs 
China at Kardinia Park in Geelong, the 
Lost Trades Fair in Kyneton, Winton V8 
Supercars in Victoria’s High Country and 
Road Cycling National Championships 
in Ballarat as well as our continued 
partnership with the Western Bulldogs  
to bring AFL games to Mars Stadium  
in Ballarat, attracting more than  
10,000 attendees in 2017. 

Our business events delivered by 
Melbourne Convention Bureau continue 
to provide significant economic 
contribution to the State as a high yield 
sector. The team has achieved record 
results, securing a pipeline of events 
including Lions Club International 
Conference in 2024, World Ophthalmology 
Congress in 2022, the inaugural Malaria 
World Congress 2018 and VidCon Australia  
in 2018 and 2019.  

As a last remark on operations I’d like to 
draw attention to an important financial 
note. Visit Victoria has adjusted its 
treatment of Government Grant funding 
to align with Australian Accounting 
Standards for not-for-profit companies. 

As a result, Visit Victoria is reporting a 
significant surplus for 2017-2018. Despite 
being technically correct, the Board 
advises that the underlying operational 
financial performance is substantially 
different to the reported result. The large 
surplus results from the recognition of 
Government Grants for specific events 
and other purposes received during  
2017-2018. The corresponding expenditure 
for these grants had not been incurred at 
30 June 2018. 

Visit Victoria has commitments,  
contracts and plans, in line with the 
conditions applied by government,  
that will fully acquit these funds during 
2018-2019 and future years.

I would also like to again thank Visit 
Victoria’s Board, comprising a diverse 
group of highly skilled Directors who 
have guided the organisation through 
establishment and into delivery. I would 
also like to thank the Premier Daniel 
Andrews and the Hon. John Eren MP, 
Minister for Tourism and Major Events, 
who continue to provide enthusiastic 
support and have been instrumental in 
winning significant events for Victoria  
in a competitive market.

Finally, the Board would like to wish all 
the staff at Visit Victoria, and across the 
industry sector, great ongoing success. Your 
collective contribution has been pivotal in 
achieving and exceeding the ambitious 
goals we have set for Visit Victoria and we 
look forward to continuing this exciting 
journey with you.

Paul Little AO

Chairman

As Chairman, I am delighted to present 
the Visit Victoria Annual Report for  
2017-2018. 

Visit Victoria was established in July 2016, 
with a clear mandate to support  
the Victorian Government’s Victorian 
Visitor Economy Strategy and its 
ambitious targets to boost the  
visitor economy by increasing visitor 
spending to $36.5 billion, and increasing 
employment in the sector to 320,700  
jobs by 2025.

Over the last two years, since 
establishment, I am very pleased to say 
we have witnessed record growth in 
the visitor economy and are tracking 
towards our jobs target and expect to 
exceed our target for visitor spending.  
As a young organisation bringing 
tourism, major events and business 
events under one roof, this record 
growth is in no small part testament 
to the guidance and direction of our 
experienced sector-based Board, rapid 
and successful operationalisation, 
commercial acumen of the new 
executive team, and unwavering 
commitment of our staff to improve the 
lives of all Victorians.

The numbers speak for themselves; as at 
March 2018 visitor expenditure reached 
a record high of $26.8 billion, up from 

$25.2 billion year ending June 2017 and 
consistently growing at  a pace faster 
than the national average, with year  
on year growth at 8.6 per cent compared 
to 5.9 per cent. Similarly, our jobs growth 
is outpacing the rest of the nation at  
7.6 per cent growth compared to 3.9 per 
cent, representing 214,500 jobs, up from 
199,300 in 2015-2016. In terms of visitor 
expenditure market share we have 
reached a record 23.3 per cent, up 0.6 
percentage points from the previous year, 
a significant increase in an incredibly 
competitive environment.

We can reflect on these achievements, 
but we will not rest on them. Through Visit 
Victoria we have gained a competitive 
edge by delivering a strategy that 
truly integrates tourism marketing 
and product support, major events, 
business events and regional events 
acquisition and delivery. We are bringing 
the best events to Melbourne and 
Victoria and promoting them interstate 
and internationally on a scale like 
never before. We’re building strategic 
partnerships with airlines, operators, 
businesses with global reach and we’re 
taking the best of what is uniquely 
Melbourne to the rest of the world.

Importantly, we are also keeping an 
eye on the bottom line that matters 
most to Victorians – while the State is 
transforming from traditional industries 
to new and emerging industries, we’re 
investing more than ever in the tourism 
and events industry as Victoria’s third- 
largest export sector and the future job 
solution for Victoria. Not only are we 
providing more enriching experiences 
for visitors by delivering an unrivalled 
events calendar, we are also committed 
to enriching the lives of all Victorians 
and creating jobs. 

The great news is we have created the 
strategic foundations to deliver these 
benefits for years to come.

Chairman’s 
Foreword
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It is an exciting time for tourism  
and events in Victoria, with the  
industry achieving a record high  
in expenditure and jobs growth. We look 
forward to playing an important role 
in the continued growth of the visitor 
economy, embracing growing competition 
and marketing challenges in a fast-
changing world of digital technology.  

I would like to thank all of the staff at Visit 
Victoria and our colleagues across the 
industry for their tireless contribution to 
improving the visitor economy.  

Visit Victoria looks forward to working 
closely with the tourism and events 
industry and government partners to 
strengthen our position as a global leader. 

Peter Bingeman 
Chief Executive Officer

In 2016, Visit Victoria was formed from 
the union of Tourism Victoria, Victorian 
Major Events Company (VMEC) and the 
Melbourne Convention Bureau (MCB), to 
revitalise and grow the visitor economy.

Backed by a strong Board led by 
Chairman Mr Paul Little AO, it was 
an opportunity for us to exploit the 
renowned marketing skills of Tourism 
Victoria and the event acquisition skills 
of MCB and VMEC to amplify events and 
sell Victoria’s many experiences.

Over the past two years, Visit Victoria has 
established a solid working foundation 
that has built the business up for future 
success to deliver against the Victorian 
Visitor Economy Strategy and capitalise 
on opportunities in an increasingly 
competitive and dynamic global  
tourism market.

In 2017-2018, Visit Victoria delivered 
consistent performance in destination 
marketing activity and the acquisition 
of events. For the first time in six years 
Visit Victoria launched a new interstate 
campaign called a Twist at Every 
Turn and a dedicated international 
campaign targeting Chinese millennials. 
Alongside the campaigns we continued 
to deliver Wander Victoria, with an 
emphasis on promoting and converting 
Melburnians to visit our regions and 
encourage overnight stays. 

Alongside our destination marketing 
activity, the events teams in business 
and major events continued to 
outperform other states by securing 
the best to be the best, reaffirming 
Melbourne’s position as Australia’s 
events capital. 

As we move forward into 2018-2019 
and the following years to come, our 
unified priority is putting the visitor at 
the heart of everything we do. Each 
business unit within Visit Victoria has 
an important role in inspiring and 
converting visitors to travel to Victoria 
and ensuring their experience is 
memorable. 

To achieve a visitor centric focus, our 
investment remains equally weighted 
across intrastate, interstate and 
international markets, recognising 
that each segment is critical to the 
future of Victoria’s visitor economy. 
How we maximise our activities in each 
market will be the key to Victoria’s 
success and using digital technology in 
understanding and reaching our visitor 
in the right medium, with the right 
message, at the right time. 

Chief Executive 
Officer’s Message
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Purpose

Visit Victoria’s purpose is to continue to 
grow the visitor economy, by generating 
$36.5 billion in visitor spending by 2025 
and supporting more than 320,700 jobs. 

As per the Victorian Visitor Economy 
Strategy released in July 2016, this will  
be achieved by: 

• improving branding and marketing

• maximising the benefits of events

• building on the potential of regional 
and rural Victoria

• improving visitor experiences, with  
a focus on Asia

• enabling effective coordination  
of the sector.  

Function

Visit Victoria operates in a collaborative 
and agile environment that informs, 
connects and partners with industry  
and the Victorian State Government  
to amplify Victoria’s brand. 

Visit Victoria collaborates across the 
sector on creative innovation in a  
fast-moving and technologically driven 
industry, exploiting research insights  
to deliver individualised experiences.

The organisation’s eight business units 
support the Victorian Government and 
industry stakeholders in building sector 
growth in tourism and major events. 

About Visit Victoria

About

Visit Victoria is the State’s tourism, 
business and major events company  
that leads the sector in creating,  
curating and communicating  
Victoria’s inspiring experiences  
to maximise visitation.

Objective

To be Australia’s number one  
tourism destination by delivering  
strong and sustainable growth across 
all core segments, working in partnership 
with industry and government 
stakeholders to: 

1. inspire the visitor to travel to Victoria

2. convert to purchase

3. service with exceptional experiences

4. activate brand advocacy.  
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Business Unit Functions

Melbourne Convention Bureau

Be the first-choice 
destination for business 
events.

• Business Event Acquisition (Bid, Buy and Build) 

• Membership Management and Communications 

• Business Events Marketing and Communications

• Business Events Research and Insights

• Strategic Partnerships

Corporate Services

To proactively support the 
organisations visitor-centric 
approach by maximising 
financial sustainability and 
governance.

• Finance

• Risk Management

• Legal

• Procurement 

• Information Technology Support

Office of the CEO

To partner with key 
stakeholders to amplify  
Visit Victoria’s story.

Corporate Affairs

• Government Relations and Ministerial 
Communications

• Media Relations and Management

• Issues Management

• Stakeholder Relations and Engagement 

• Industry Communications

• Internal Communications

To proactively support the 
organisations visitor-centric 
approach by maximising  
Regional Tourism Board 
engagement and strategies.

Regional Tourism and Strategy

• Regional Tourism Board Engagement

• Regional Tourism Board Funding and Contract 
Management 

• Visitor Servicing Strategy

• Regional Stakeholder Engagement – Advocating 
Sector Investment

To inspire experiences  
in a performance driven, 
values led workplace  
that enables professional 
growth, informed meaningful 
contribution and celebrates 
success.

People 

• Recruitment

• Performance Management

• Career Development and Training

• Employee Relations

• Internal Culture Champions

• People Metrics Reporting

• Workplace Safety

• Internship Programs

Business Unit Functions

Consumer Markets

To deliver best-in-class, 
visitor-centric marketing 
activities across all key 
consumer-facing segments, 
to drive business results.

• International Marketing and Communications

• Domestic Marketing and Communications (Intrastate 
and Interstate)

• Sector Marketing: Visiting Friends and  
Relatives Segment 

• Consumer Communications and Social  
Media Strategy

• Strategic Partnerships

• Airline Collaboration with Invest Victoria

• International Trade Events

Digital Marketing Services and Strategy

To deliver technology and 
data business solutions that 
inspire, convert and service 
travellers at all stages of the 
visitor journey.

• Consumer Insights and Performance 

• Data Acquisition and Analysis 

• Video and Design Services

• Product and Familiarisations  
(Media and Trade Relations) 

• Aboriginal Tourism Development 

• Australian Tourism Data Warehouse (ATDW) Support

Major Events

Create the best major events 
calendar in the world that 
tells the Melbourne story to 
inspire people to travel to  
the State.

• Major Event Acquisition

• Regional Event Acquisition and Management  
of Regional Event Funding

• Event Marketing and Relationships

• Event Brand Campaigns

• Event Management of Cadel Evans Great Ocean 
Road Race and White Night Melbourne and Regions
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People

Visit Victoria remained committed to 
creating a performance driven, values  
led culture in 2017-2018. 

Focus was maintained on building 
leadership, capability, performance 
and culture during a financial year of 
significant structural change. Strategies 
were developed to clarify direction, 
performance expectations and to support 
employees through the transition.  

A number of people centric initiatives 
were implemented to maximise business 
outcomes aligned to the Victorian Visitor 
Economy Strategy Action Plan 2016-2020.

Significant Initiatives: 

1. Establishing consistent workplans 
business-wide incorporating 
performance goals, values, career 
development and training.

2. Review and establishment of core 
human resource policies for   
Visit Victoria.

3. Training for first aiders and floor 
wardens at Visit Victoria’s Head Office.  

4. Implementation of a capability 
development plan which in the first 
year focused on leadership, business 
writing skills and negotiation skills.

5. Development of leadership workshops 
and 360-degree surveys for people 
leaders to encourage two-way 
feedback, reflection and performance 
improvement.

6. Execution of team-based 
communication including monthly 
all staff meetings and half year 
off-site staff days to reinforce 
strategic direction, encourage team 
engagement and professional 
development.

7. Introduction of People Central, an 
online human resource system that 
provides significant administrative 
improvements to manage recruitment, 
performance goals and reviews, and 
learning management.

8. Implementation of  the Have Your Say 
team engagement survey, revealed 
that Visit Victoria staff are highly 
engaged and have clarity on goals, 
above the Australian norm.

Developing leadership and supporting 
employees through professional 
development and career opportunities 
continues to be a key focus in 2018-2019. 

As is the completion and implementation 
of the first Visit Victoria Enterprise 
Agreement which has commenced 
bargaining.

Our Values

Visit Victoria’s vision is supported  
by a code of behaviours and  
values that underpin the way  
the organisation operates.

WE ARE  
BRAVE

WE ARE 
AUTHENTIC

WE WIN 
AS ONE

PROMISES MADE, 
PROMISES KEPT

WE ARE 
RESULTS DRIVEN

Our Vision 

Visit Victoria’s vision is to influence 
potential visitors to move along the 
visitor journey whereby they come and 
visit Melbourne and regional Victoria. 

To achieve this vision “we put the visitor  
at the heart of everything we do”.

Inspire

Advocate Convert

Service

VISIT  
VICTORIA

VISITOR JOURNEY
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Visit Victoria operates in a collaborative 
and agile environment that informs, 
connects and partners with industry and 
the Victorian State Government to amplify 
Victoria’s brand. 

Gender Total 
Employees

Ongoing  
Employees

Fixed Term And  
Casual Employees

Total
(FTE)

Headcount FTE FTE
Year Ending  

June 2018

Male 29 29 17.6 46.6

Female 52 50.2 28.84 79.04

Gender

Male Variance 
From 

2016-2017

Female Variance 
From  

2016-2017

Current  
Vacancies

Variance 
From  

2016-2017

GSERP* 4 0 2 0 0 -1

Non-GSERP 2 1 1 1 0 -1

Leadership Team

Date Employee  
Headcount 

International Fixed 
Term And Casual 

Employees

Total 
Employees

Full-time
(Headcount)

Part-time
(Headcount)

Total
(Headcount)

Total
(FTE)

Total
(FTE)

Total
(FTE)

Year ending 
June 2017

87 10 97 93.5 25.2 118.7

Year ending 
June 2018

77 4 81 79.2 46.44 125.64*

*  FTE increase due to revised organisational structure implemented post transition and in accordance with   
Visit Victoria’s strategic priorities and projects to deliver on the Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy.

Ongoing Employees

Workforce Data

FTE – Full-time Equivalent 

*  GSERP - Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel.
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Output Targets and Performance

Performance   
Indicator

Unit Of   
Measure

Quantity, 
Quality,  

Timeliness

2017- 
2018 

Target

2017- 
2018 

Actual

Performance
Variation

1. Number of visitors 
(international)

Number 
(million)

Quantity 2.9 3 3.4%

2. Number of overnight visitors 
(domestic)

Number 
(million)

Quantity 22.6 24 6.2%

3. Visitor expenditure 
(international)

Number 
(billion)

Quantity 7.8 8 2.6%

4. Visitor expenditure (domestic) Number  
(billion)

Quantity 17.7 18.8 6.2%

5. Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (international) 

Number 
(million)

Quantity 500 570 14%

6. Visitor expenditure in regional 
Victoria (domestic)

Number 
(billion)

Quantity 8.3 9.1 9.6%

7. Visitors to Visit Victoria 
consumer websites

Number 
(million)

Quantity 9.4 8.9 -5.3%

8. Value of media generated: 
domestic

Number 
(million)

Quantity  20 30 48.5%

9. Value of media generated: 
international 

Number 
(million)

Quantity 40 48 21%

10. Major sporting and cultural 
events facilitated

Number Quantity 18 26 44.4%

11. Completion of post-event 
reports and economic impact 
assessments of each event 
within agreed timeframes

Per cent Timeliness 100 100 -

Data source: National and International Visitor Surveys, Tourism Research Australia, year ending 
March 2018.

Initiatives and 
Achievements

Overview

Since its establishment on 1 July 
2016, Visit Victoria has successfully 
unified tourism, major events and 
business events. The organisation 
has successfully facilitated more than 
550 events including more than 60 
major events, more than 330 business 
events, provided funding for more 
than 160 regional events, delivered a 
dedicated regional marketing campaign 
and delivered the first interstate and 
international marketing campaigns  
for Victoria in six years.

Aligned with the Victorian Visitor 
Economy Strategy, Visit Victoria’s 
strategic approach has focused on 
strengthening Melbourne and Victoria’s 
position across three key visitor 
segments – interstate, intrastate  
and international. 

The results are clear: since the 
Victorian Government announced 
its renewed focus to grow the visitor 
economy in 2014-2015 – 22,400 jobs 
have been added and total visitor 
expenditure for Victoria has seen 
dramatic growth in recent years, 
increasing 31.1 per cent or $6.4 billion 
from $20.5 billion in December 2014 to 
$26.8 billion as at March 2018. Visitation 
is also at an all-time high; however, 
there is still significant potential for 
future growth to surpass the Victorian 
Visitor Economy Strategy goal of  
$36.5 billion in visitor spend and 
320,700 jobs by 2025. 
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Victoria

In the year ending March 2018:

• Travellers to and within Victoria spent 
a total of $26.8 billion (comprising 
domestic daytrip, domestic overnight 
and international overnight 
expenditure). This equates to a market 
share of 23.3 per cent of total tourism 
expenditure in Australia. Compared 
to last year (year ending March 2017), 
expenditure increased 8.6 per cent, 
above the national average growth  
of 5.9 per cent. Over the last five years 
(year ending March 2013-2018), total 
expenditure in Victoria has grown on 
average 6.8 per cent per annum, above 
national performance (+5.7 per cent 
per annum). Current year on year and 
five-year average annual growth rates 
are above what is needed to achieve 
the Victorian Visitor Economy Strategy 
target of $36.5 billion by 2024-2025 
(+5.3 per cent per annum over the life 
of the strategy).  

• Victoria’s total overnight expenditure 
(excluding daytrips) of $21.6 billion grew 
by 8.5 per cent compared to last year 
(year ending March 2017), above the 
national growth rate of 5.8 per cent. 
Over the last five years (year ending 
March 2013-2018), total overnight 
expenditure in Victoria has grown 
on average by 8 per cent per annum, 
ahead of the national average of  
6.4 per cent per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure  
in Victoria of $13.6 billion grew by  
7.5 per cent compared to last year  
(year ending March 2017), at a rate 
higher than the national growth rate 
(+5.5 per cent). Over the last five 
years (year ending March 2013-2018), 
domestic overnight expenditure in 
Victoria has grown on average by  
5.8 per cent per annum, slightly 
ahead of the national rate of  
5.3 per cent per annum.  

• International overnight expenditure  
in Victoria grew by 10.3 per cent to  
$8 billion, above the national average 
growth rate (+6.7 per cent). Over the 
last five years (year ending March 
2013-2018), international overnight 
expenditure in Victoria has grown  
by 12.4 per cent per annum, ahead 
of the national average of 9 per cent 
per annum. 

growth in total expenditure  
in Victoria based on year  
on year growth. 

growth in domestic 
overnight expenditure 
in Victoria based on year 
on year growth.

growth in international 
overnight expenditure 
in Victoria based on year  
on year growth.

8.6% 7.5% 10.3%
 Table Commentary

1. Latest result for the year ending March 
2018 is in line with the target. Year on year, 
international visitors have increased  
9 per cent. China remains the largest  
source of international visitors, at 21.8 per cent 
of all international visitors, but growth of  
13 per cent was below the national growth rate 
of 13.2 per cent. Victoria experienced strong 
growth from India (28.8 per cent), Japan  
(25.4 per cent), Hong Kong (20.4 per cent) and 
the United States of America (13.7 per cent).

2. The result for the year ending March 2018 
is ahead of the 2017-2018 target. Domestic 
overnight visitors to Victoria have increased  
6.6 per cent on the previous year, in line with  
the national growth rate of 6.7 per cent.  
The intrastate market grew by 7.2 per cent to 
16.5 million, with the interstate market growing 
by 5.5 per cent to 7.5 million.

3. Latest result for the year ending March 2018 is 
ahead of target. International expenditure grew 
10.3 per cent year on year, above nationwide 
growth of 6.7 per cent. Victoria experienced 
strong expenditure growth from Japan  
(37.2 per cent), India (35.4 per cent), China 
(17.4 per cent), Indonesia (13.3 per cent) and 
Singapore (12.0 per cent). China continues 
to have the biggest impact on expenditure 
growth, providing over a third (37.4 per cent)  
of all international spend to Victoria.

4. Latest result for the year ending March 2018 is 
ahead of the 2017-2018 target. Total domestic 
expenditure in Victoria grew by 7.9 per cent 
relative to the previous year (year ending 
March 2017) and 4.9 per cent per annum  
over the last five years (year ending March 
2013-2018). Expenditure by domestic overnight 
visitors to Victoria in the year ending March 
2018 increased by 7.5 per cent to $13.6 billion.  
This is well above the national growth rate of 
5.5 per cent. Domestic daytrip expenditure in 
Victoria increased by 9.1 per cent year on year, 
to $5.2 billion. This growth rate is well above the 
national average of 6.0 per cent.

5. Latest result for the year ending March 2018 
is ahead of the 2017-2018 target. International 
expenditure in regional Victoria grew by  
11 per cent year on year, to $570 million. This 
rate of growth is significantly above the 
regional Australia growth rate of 1.5 per cent,  
as well as the regional New South Wales growth 
rate (+9.4 per cent).

6. Latest figures for the year ending March 2018 
have exceeded the 2017-2018 target. Total 
domestic expenditure in regional Victoria 
increased by 10.8 per cent, driven by both the 
domestic overnight market (+11.6 per cent to 
$5.9 billion) and the domestic daytrip market 
(+9.5 per cent to $3.2 billion).

7. Visitation to consumer websites increased  
by 1.3 per cent over the previous 12 months.  
The 2017-2018 target was not met due to a lower 
than expected media spend and increased 
competition from social media and destination 
websites.

8. Domestic media coverage was strong in the 
first half of the financial year due to significant 
broadcast projects and the launch of Twist 
at Every Turn interstate campaign. The lift in 
domestic results in quarter four is attributed 
to key print items and national morning live 
broadcasts.

9. International media coverage results exceeded 
target due to significant print and broadcast 
clips coinciding with new aviation launches.  
In addition, the launch of the new China  
brand campaign attributed to the increase  
in coverage.

10. Major events exceeded the 2017-2018 target  
and facilitated 26 events. 

11. All events that had contractual commitments  
to provide post-event reports and economic 
impact assessments have been received  
or are in the process of evaluation. 

Note: Not all events contracted are required to 
deliver annual economic impact assessments.
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Regional Victoria

In the year ending March 2018: 

• Travellers to and within regional 
Victoria spent a total of $9.7 billion 
(comprising domestic daytrip, 
domestic overnight and international 
overnight expenditure). Relative to 
the previous year (year ending March 
2017), regional Victoria experienced 
expenditure growth of 10.8 per cent, 
above the national regional growth 
rate of 6.2 per cent. Over the last five 
years (year ending March 2013-2018), 
total expenditure in regional Victoria 
has grown by 5.9 per cent per annum, 
slightly above the national regional 
growth rate of 5.1 per cent per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure in 
regional Victoria grew by 11.6 per cent 
to $5.9 billion, well above the national 
regional growth rate of 6.3 per cent. 
Expenditure increased from the 
intrastate (+12.2 per cent to $4.6 billion) 
and interstate (+9.6 per cent to  
$1.4 billion) overnight markets.  
Across the last five years (year ending 
March 2013-2018), expenditure grew  
by 5.6 per cent per annum for 
intrastate and 8.4 per cent per annum 
for interstate overnight markets.  

• Regional Victoria experienced  
year on year growth in international 
overnight expenditure of  
11 per cent, to $570 million, above the 
national regional average increase 
of 1.5 per cent. Over the last five 
years (year ending March 2013-2018), 
international overnight expenditure 
in regional Victoria has grown on 
average by 13 per cent, above the 
national regional increase  
of 5.5 per cent per annum. 

growth in total expenditure 
in regional Victoria based 
on year on year growth.

growth in domestic  
overnight expenditure 
in regional Victoria based  
on year on year growth.

growth in international  
overnight expenditure 
in regional Victoria based  
on year on year growth.

10.8% 11.6% 11.0%

Melbourne

In the year ending March 2018:

• Travellers to and within Melbourne 
spent a total of $17.1 billion (comprising 
domestic daytrip, domestic overnight 
and international overnight 
expenditure). Relative to the previous 
year (year ending March 2017), 
Melbourne saw a 7.4 per cent  
increase, above the national city  
rate of +5.6 per cent. Over the last five 
years (year ending March 2013-2018), 
total expenditure in Melbourne has 
grown by 7.4 per cent per annum,  
ahead of the national city rate of  
6.1 per cent per annum. 

• Domestic overnight expenditure in 
Melbourne was $7.7 billion, growing  
by 4.5 per cent year on year, in line  
with the national city average  
(+4.6 per cent). Relative to the  
previous year, the interstate overnight 
market increased by 3.8 per cent to  
$5.4 billion, with the intrastate overnight 
market growing 6.3 per cent to  
$2.3 billion. Over the last five years 
(years ending March 2013-2018), 
interstate overnight expenditure has 
grown 6.3 per cent per annum, ahead 
of the national capital city average 
of 5.6 per cent per annum. Intrastate 
overnight expenditure has grown  
3.5 per cent per annum over the last  
five years (year ending March 2013-
2018), below the national capital city 
average of +3.7 per cent per annum. 

• International overnight expenditure  
in Melbourne was $7.4 billion, growing  
by 10.2 per cent year on year. 
International visitors also grew at a 
rate of 9.4 per cent to 2.8 million, with 
nights growing 3 per cent to 60.5 million. 
Growth in spend and visitors was 
ahead of the national capital city rate, 
but below for nights. Over the last five 
years (year ending March 2013-2018), 
international overnight expenditure in 
Melbourne has grown by 10.3 per cent 
per annum, ahead of the national city 
rate of 9.7 per cent per annum. 

growth in total expenditure 
in Melbourne based on year 
on year growth.

growth in domestic  
overnight expenditure 
in Melbourne based on  
year on year growth.

growth in international 
overnight expenditure 
in Melbourne based on  
year on year growth.

7.4% 4.5% 10.2%
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• Hosted two major Visit Victoria industry 
events including Victoria’s International 
Exchange (VIE) and Twist at Every Turn 
campaign industry launch, attracting 
over 200 attendees each. 

• Entered a three-year agreement  
with Victoria Tourism Industry  
Council (VTIC) to manage The  
Victoria Tourism Awards on behalf  
of Visit Victoria. 

• Provided sponsorship support to  
VTIC to host the annual Victorian  
Tourism Conference.

Internal Milestones Achieved

• Expanded Visit Victoria’s presence 
in China by opening a third office in 
Beijing in July 2017, strengthening 
cultural and tourism partnership ties.

• Appointed a Head of Regional Tourism 
and Strategy, to maximise Regional 
Tourism Board engagement and 
develop regional opportunities. 

• Appointed an Aboriginal Tourism 
Business Development Manager to  
drive Victoria’s engagement with 
Aboriginal tourism businesses and 
product development.

• Deployed People Central, a new human 
resource tool to increase efficiency in 
recruitment, learning and performance 
management.

• Executed official charity partnership 
with Melbourne City Mission and 
participated in Sleep at the ‘G, with staff 
raising over $12,000; a reflection of their 
commitment in making Victoria a better 
place, now and into the future.

In the 2017-2018 Visit Victoria continued  
to actively source opportunities to 
improve industry engagement with 
business activities and strengthen 
internal systems and processes to 
support business units. 

Office of the CEO

Visit Victoria has successfully started 
to revitalise the visitor economy as a 
unified entity, with Victoria experiencing 
unprecedented growth in visitor 
expenditure and jobs.

Visitor expenditure has increased by  
31.1 per cent or $6.4 billion from December 
2014 to $26.8 billion as at March 2018, 
outpacing increases in preceding 
years. The surge of additional jobs has 
increased from 192,100 in 2014-2015 to 
214,500 in 2016-2017, resulting in a total  
of more than 22,400 additional jobs.

In 2017-2018, Visit Victoria continued to 
actively source opportunities to improve 
industry engagement with business 
activities and strengthen internal systems 
and processes to support business units. 

As promised, the Company undertook 
extensive consultation with tourism 
and events stakeholders on campaign 
activities to enhance Victoria’s 
destination profile.

HIGHLIGHTS

External Milestones Achieved

• Regular Regional Tourism Board  
(RTB) forums adopted. 

• Commenced engagement with  
local government associations (LGAs), 
including councils, to strengthen sector 
investment in the visitor economy.  

• Initiated engagement with Traditional 
Owners and Aboriginal tourism 
businesses to support the growth and 
development of Aboriginal tourism  
across Victoria.

• Activated new corporate 
communication channels to build 
industry engagement: 

 –  Launched a new corporate website  
in February 2018. 

 – Activated corporate social media 
channels across Twitter, Facebook  
and LinkedIn.

 –  Introduced quarterly industry e-News 
‘The View’. 

 –  Increased frequency of executive 
updates at leading industry events. 
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International Aviation

Attraction Strategy – In addition to 
market activity Visit Victoria continued 
to collaborate with Invest Victoria and 
Melbourne Airport to increase capacity 
and direct flight access to the State. 
Thirteen additional services and routes 
were secured for Victoria last financial 
year, directly affecting inbound visitation.  

International Trade Missions

Strengthening Profile – Five trade 
missions were held in 2017-2018 across 
the United Kingdom, China, India, Japan 
and the United States of America, to build 
stronger relationships with industry and 
present new and upgraded Victorian 
tourism products.

International Marketing Highlights, 
Eastern Hemisphere 

International Event Promotions – 
Visit Victoria partnered with five key 
development program agents in both first 
and second tier cities in China to promote 
the Melbourne Cup Carnival in 2017, 
highlighting Melbourne’s fashion, culture 
and culinary attributes. This resulted in 
148 premium package bookings. The team 
also partnered with Ctrip, one of China’s 
largest online travel services, to sell ticket 
packages to the Australian Tennis Open 
in 2018. Over 500 event tickets were sold, 
which set a new record. 

Aviation Partnerships – Partnerships 
with China Southern Airlines, China 
Eastern Airlines, Xiamen Airlines, Tianjin 
Airlines, Hainan Airline Groups and Virgin 
Australia Airlines resulted in the new 
China campaign being featured in inflight 
magazines and inflight entertainment. 

Major Broadcast Achieved – Visit Victoria, 
in partnership with Tianjin Airlines, 
cooperated on a new reality show A 
Perfect Travel with Homies on Tencent 
Video (WeChat’s parent company). The 
show featured four episodes highlighting 
Victoria’s nature, arts, fashion and 
culinary offerings. Each episode received  
over 18 million views. 

International Social Media Program – 
Visit Victoria worked with WeChat and 
its parent company Tencent on a mini 
program, Discover Melbourne, supported 
by Tourism Australia. Over 50 Melbourne 
and Victorian travel products were 
showcased in January 2018. Melbourne 
was one of the first two Australian cities 
to be involved in this global project by 
Tencent. 

Partnership Activations – Integrated 
partnership marketing campaigns 
activated across Southeast Asia 
highlighted Melbourne’s credentials. 
For example, in Malaysia, Melbourne’s 
creative arts scene came to life via a 
pop-up fashion runway featuring local 
designers at the annual CHT Awards Gala, 
attended by over 400 delegates. 

For the first time in six years, Visit 
Victoria launched a dedicated marketing 
communications campaign in China.  
The new television commercial has  
reached over 81 million people, driving  
2.4 million to Visit Victoria’s Chinese website.

Consumer Markets

In 2017-2018, Visit Victoria launched 
two major destination marketing 
communication campaigns in 
international and domestic markets 
for the first time in six years, whilst 
continuing to achieve strong Wander 
Victoria campaign results in promoting 
Victoria’s diverse regions.   

The consumer markets business unit, 
consisting of domestic and international 
marketing teams, continued to challenge 
audience perceptions and sentiments 
across key markets to strengthen visitor 
consideration and conversion to the State. 

HIGHLIGHTS

Major Destination Campaigns 

Regional campaign, Wander Victoria – 
Since the campaign’s inception in 2016 
it has achieved 26.9 million views of 
the brand films and over 384,000 visits 
to the campaign website. Preference 
for regional Victoria as a place to 
visit is increasing and the campaign 
has impacted intrastate audience 
perceptions achieving a positive 
sentiment rating of 98 per cent across 
social communications.

Interstate Melbourne campaign, Twist 
at Every Turn – Launched in October 
2017, the first interstate campaign in 
six years, has increased audience 
awareness by 43 per cent, with over 
11 million views of the brand films and 
102,000 visits to the campaign website. 
As a result, preference for Melbourne 
as a place to visit is increasing, which 
can also be attributed to Visit Victoria’s 
conversion partnership with Virgin 
Australia. 

International campaign, China –  
After the launch phase, the campaign 
achieved impressive results, with the 
television commercial reaching over 
81 million people, driving 2.4 million 
people to Visit Victoria’s Chinese 
website and growing Visit Victoria’s 
social fanbase by over 240,000. 
Visitation from China to Victoria 
continues to increase strongly, with 
visitor numbers growing by 13 per cent  
in the year ending March 2018. 
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Strategic Partnerships 

Marketing Communication Agreements 
– Several marketing communication 
agreements with airline carriers, media 
companies, booking services and industry 
events were signed in 2017-2018 to further 
emulate Victoria’s brand attributes as a 
live music, culinary, fashion and sports 
destination. For example, the Good Food 
Guide Awards will move to Melbourne 
in October 2019 and the iconic MTV 
Unplugged series beginning July 2018  
will showcase the State’s live music 
culture on a global scale.

Communications 

International Coverage – As of June 
2018, international proactive destination 
media coverage AVE (advertising 
value equivalent) reached $48 million 
in value, exceeding the financial year 
target by $8 million. This was a result 
of the significant print and broadcast 
destination stories coinciding with new 
aviation announcements. The launch of 
the China campaign also contributed to 
communication results.

Domestic Coverage – Domestic media 
coverage generated also exceeded 
target by $10 million in AVE due to the 
major launch of the Twist at Every Turn 
interstate marketing communications 
campaign. As at June 2018, over  
$30 million in intrastate and interstate 
media coverage was achieved. 

Social Media

Engagement Growth – In 2017-2018, Visit 
Victoria’s focus on social media increased 
in line with global trends and changes in 
the media environment. Strong results, 
aligning with the organisation’s brand 
and communication frameworks and 
business objectives, were achieved across 
Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Weibo  
and WeChat. Visit Victoria reached over  
253 million consumers on Facebook  
and Instagram alone.

Several marketing communication 
agreements with airline carriers, media 
companies, booking services and industry 
events were signed in 2017-2018 to further 
emulate Victoria’s brand attributes  
as a live music, culinary, fashion and 
sports destination.

Follow Your Sport campaign positioned 
Melbourne as a world-class sporting and 
events destination across the United 
Kingdom. The campaign featured flagship 
events and highlighted Victorian products 
to drive conversion. All benchmarks set for 
this campaign exceeded expectations. 

New Zealand Activity – The new 
Melbourne campaign Twist at Every 
Turn generated 38,600 New Zealand 
-based visits to the campaign website. 
Conversion bookings, with aviation 
partner Qantas, increased 11.3 per cent 
compared to the same period in the 
previous year.

Visit Victoria’s The House of Dior event 
campaign launched in New Zealand in 
July 2017, generated $100,000 in earned 
public relations value and 20,000 new 
consumer database profiles. New Zealand 
visitation to the exhibition equated to  
27 per cent of overall international 
visitation (4,310 visitors).

Air New Zealand So Many Ways to 
Melbourne campaign was launched in 
April 2018. This campaign presented rich 
destination content to New Zealanders. 
The two associated Air New Zealand sale 
periods resulted in incremental booking 
increases of 23 per cent and 6 per cent 
compared to the same period last year.

Direct Flight Promotions – Integrated 
partnership marketing campaigns were 
delivered in Japan with Japan Airlines, 
Tourism Australia and Invest Victoria, 
following the commencement of Japan 
Airlines direct flights between Tokyo and 
Melbourne. Activity covered digital and 
social, television broadcast, out of office 
advertising, pop-up activations, the 
development of a new Victoria guidebook 
and in-flight print and video promotions. 
The new direct service has contributed  
to a 25.5 per cent increase year on year 
and expenditure increase of 37.2 per cent. 

India Visitation Growth – Visitation  
and expenditure from India continued 
to rise, delivering 155,000 visitors to the 
State and a spending of $457 million. 
Visit Victoria continues to monitor this 
important market.

International Marketing Highlights, 
Western Hemisphere 

America Activity – Visit Victoria worked 
closely with Tourism Australia and travel 
partners to leverage the in-market 
Dundee campaign activity in United 
States of America to ensure Melbourne 
was in the top visitor consideration set 
when deciding on where to travel in 
Australia.

United Kingdom and Europe Activity – 
Across the United Kingdom, Visit Victoria 
executed a new visiting family and 
relatives (VFR) campaign called Meet Me, 
encouraging locals to share an inspiring 
story as to why they should visit their 
family and relatives in Victoria. Visit 
Victoria captured the emotional reunions 
and travel experiences of the winners, 
resulting in more than 380,000 views on 
the Visit Victoria United Kingdom website. 
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Top Five International Association Events Won – The top five international 
association events won in 2017-2018 by economic contribution were:

Event Name Sector Year Economic 
Contribution

World Ophthalmology Congress Medical 2022 $73.8 million

General Assembly and Congress of the 
International Union  
of Crystallography

Science 2023 $22.8 million

International Congress of Biochemistry 
& Molecular Biology

Medical 2023 $18.4 million

World Convention of  
Narcotics Anonymous

Medical 2021 $15.6 million

Annual Meeting of the International 
Continence  
Society

Medical 2021 $15.1 million

Event Name Sector Economic 
Contribution

International Dragon Award  
Annual Meeting

Business $20.2 million

16th Annual Meeting of the International 
Society for Stem Cell Research

Medical/pharmaceutical/health 
care equipment and services

$13.4 million

World Congress on Nuclear  
Medicine and Biology

Medical/pharmaceutical/health 
care equipment and services

$12.6 million

Thematic Conference of the  
World Psychiatric Association

Medical/pharmaceutical/health 
care equipment and services

$8.8 million

International Inner Wheel  
Convention

Cultural $8.4 million

Top Five International Association Events Held – The largest international association 
events held in 2017-2018 by economic contribution were:

Melbourne played host to several international 
business events in 2017-2018 exceeding targets for 
events secured (176), number of delegates (79,178), 
expected room nights (198,156) and economic 
contribution ($396 million).

Melbourne Convention Bureau

The Melbourne Convention Bureau  
(MCB) team in 2017-2018 continued  
to identify and convert high yield 
business event opportunities across  
core business sectors whilst managing  
a solid membership base.

As a subsidiary of Visit Victoria, MCB  
led the acquisition and delivery of 
national and global business events  
for Melbourne and regional Victoria  
by partnering with key government 
entities, national associations and over 
250 private enterprise members. 

MCB achieved its best results on record 
in 2017-2018, in part a great testament to 
the benefits of integration following the 
formation of Visit Victoria.

Melbourne played host to several 
international business events in 2017-2018 
exceeding targets for events secured 
(176), number of delegates (79,178), 
expected room nights (198,156) and 
economic impact ($396 million).

Recognising the importance of business 
events to the State’s economy, MCB 
created new resource tools in dual 
languages to aid international event and 
incentive planners with ideas, inspiration 
and itineraries for creating memorable 
corporate experiences in Melbourne  
and regional Victoria.  

HIGHLIGHTS

Economic Contribution – Secured 
41 international association events 
and 135 corporate meetings, national 
meetings and incentives totalling  
79,178 delegates and a contribution of 
$396 million to the Victorian economy 
during 2017-2018. 

Delegate Numbers Soar – Four large 
international association events won 
in 2017-2018 are set to bring 27,200 
delegates and over $155 million in 
economic contribution to Melbourne 
and regional Victoria between  
2018-2023.

Sector Diversity (International 
Associations) – International 
association events won in  
2017-2018 were from the following 
sectors: 37 per cent medical/ 
pharmaceutical/health, 24 per cent 
engineering, 15 per cent business,  
12 per cent science/environment,  
7 per cent socio-cultural and  
5 per cent education.

jobs created from business 
events secured

business events secured, 
exceeding target

economic impact increase 
from previous year

4,739 176 25%
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Recognising the importance of business 
events to the State’s economy, MCB created 
new resource tools in dual languages to aid 
international event and incentive planners 
with ideas, inspiration and itineraries for 
creating memorable corporate experiences 
in Melbourne and regional Victoria.  

Sector Diversity (Corporate Meetings and Incentives)  – The source markets for 
corporate meetings and incentives won in 2017-2018 were: 34 per cent Taiwan,  
19 per cent Malaysia, 18 per cent China and 4 per cent Indonesia.

Top Five Meetings and Incentive Events Won (and held) – The top five corporate 
meetings and incentive events won and held in 2017-2018 by economic contribution were:

Event Name Sector Economic 
Contribution

AIA Hong Kong Insurance $11.6 million

Cathay Life Insurance  
Incentive Tour

Insurance $10.7 million

Scentsy Family Reunion Direct selling/ multi-level marketing $5.4 million

Amway Japan Diamond Incentive Direct selling/ multi-level marketing $2.2 million

Joymain China Incentive Direct selling/ multi-level marketing $2.2 million
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Sports Acquisition – Events Secured

Basketball Australia – Secured a long-
term strategic partnership with Basketball 
Australia from 2018-2020, enabling 
Melbourne to win the 2019 opportunity 
to host the first USA basketball event in 
Australia since the 2000 Sydney Olympics. 
This event will provide fans the chance to 
see the world’s best at Etihad Stadium, 
with the United States of America men’s 
national basketball team playing against 
the Australian Boomers over two matches 
in the immediate lead-up to the FIBA 
Basketball World Championships in China.

Rugby Australia – Achieved a long-term 
strategic partnership with the Australian 
Rugby Union (ARU) from 2018-2025 
that will see Melbourne host seven 
international matches including the 
Bledisloe Cup and British and Irish  
Lions Tour.

Rugby League – Secured a long-term 
partnership with the National Rugby 
League (NRL) from 2019-2025 that will 
see two more State of Origin matches in 
Victoria and a range of other premium 
Rugby League content.

Golf – Delivered a five-year golf strategy 
that will see Melbourne’s iconic Sandbelt 
Golf region host the World Cup of Golf 
2018, the Presidents Cup 2019 (featuring 
Tiger Woods), the Australian Open in 2020 
and 2022 and the 2021 Victorian Open.

T20 Cricket World Cup – Successfully 
won a suite of matches for Melbourne 
including hosting both the Men’s and 
Women’s ICC World T20 Finals at the 
Melbourne Cricket Ground in 2020. 
Matches will also be hosted in Geelong 
at Kardinia Park during the men’s 
tournament, making it the only regional 
city across Australia to host this global 
showpiece and meaning Victoria will host 
more matches than any other State.

Rip Curl Pro – In September 2017, Visit 
Victoria announced that the longest- 
running surfing contest, the Rip Curl Pro, 
would remain at Bells Beach until 2022.

WWE Super Show-Down – Visit 
Victoria acquired one of the biggest 
entertainment events with TEG Dainty, 
featuring the world’s biggest World 
Wrestling Entertainment (WWE) stars 
at the iconic MCG. This event will be 
televised to fans across the globe, 
profiling Melbourne as the ultimate  
events destination.

Esports Open – In partnership with TEG 
Live and ESL, Visit Victoria secured 
the right to host Australia’s biggest live 
Esports event in Melbourne, set to attract 
a younger generation of visitors to the 
State in September 2018 at Melbourne  
Olympic Park.

Sports Acquisition – Events Delivered  
and Supported

Australian Open (Tennis) – Supported 
the ongoing delivery of this world-class 
Grand Slam tournament to grow visitation 
to this event from key interstate and 
international markets and to maximise 
publicity for the destination through  
the global coverage of this event and 
global broadcast.

Rugby League – Melbourne hosted the 
opening match of the Rugby League 
World Cup in October 2017 and then 
hosted Game 1 of the State of Origin 
series at the Melbourne Cricket Ground  
in front of over 87,000 fans.

Major Events

In 2017-2018, Visit Victoria’s major events 
team played a vital role in maintaining 
Victoria’s event capital credentials, 
having renegotiated three existing  
major event contracts, acquired  
23 new creative and sporting major 
event contracts, including numerous 
multi-year and multi-event packages, 
and facilitated a total of 26 events. 

Regional events played a key role in 
driving intrastate and interstate visitation 
across Victoria, with Visit Victoria funding 
and administering 58 regional events 
through the Regional Events Fund (REF) 
on behalf of the Victorian Government in 
2017-2018. Since the introduction of the 
REF in July 2016, over 161 regional events 
across all 11 tourism regions of Victoria 
have received support. 

In May 2018, Visit Victoria began 
administering the new Regional Events 
and Innovation Fund (REIF) announced 
by the State Government. 

In addition to acquiring and funding 
events across the State, the team in  
2017-2018 actively supported event 
partners to achieve sell-out events and 
worked extensively with event owners 
and talent to profile Victoria through joint 
marketing communication initiatives to 
inspire visitation. 

HIGHLIGHTS

Marketing and Partnerships 

Awards – In 2018, Visit Victoria’s event 
marketing team secured three major 
awards for Melbourne, honoured by 
SportsBusiness International at the 
Ultimate Sports Cities Awards, for Best 
Major Event Strategy, Best Venues and 
Best Large City. Melbourne was the 
only Australian city to win an award. 

Major Event Marketing Campaigns – 
2017-2018 included: 

White Night Melbourne

Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race

Australian Open (tennis) including  
a global content piece featuring  
Henri Leconte 

The House of Dior campaign in China 
and New Zealand 

Follow Your Sport campaign in the 
United Kingdom

Virgin Australia Melbourne Fashion 
Festival Runway in the Sky

Presidents Cup activation in New York 
promoting the Sandbelt golf courses. 

Destination Awareness – During 
2017-2018, Visit Victoria significantly 
increased destination coverage by 
integrating visual content and on-air 
commentary through global event 
broadcast partnerships. The team 
leveraged marquee athletes and 
well-known talent to profile Victoria 
as the ultimate events destination, 
using influencers such as Helena 
Christensen, Billy Slater, Kelly Gale  
and Nicole Kidman.

In 2017-2018 Visit Victoria’s major events team 
played a vital role in maintaining Victoria’s event 
capital credentials having renegotiated three 
existing major event contracts, acquired 23 new 
creative and sporting major event contracts, 
including numerous multi-year and multi-event 
packages, facilitating a total of 26 events. 
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Regional Events – Funded and Supported

Western Bulldogs at Eureka Stadium  
– Over 10,000 fans attended the Western 
Bulldogs regional event matches in 2018.

Lost Trades Fair – The event celebrated 
the art of skilled manual work, ancient 
crafts and rare trades, attracting more 
than 21,000 attendees in March 2018.

High Country Harvest – An annual salute 
to amazing produce, chefs, winemakers 
and brewers attracted more than 7,000 
attendees in May 2018.

Riverboats Music Festival – The seventh 
Riverboats Music Festival in February 2018 
welcomed over 6,000 attendees across 
the twin towns of Echuca and Moama. 

Event Management 

Cadel Evans Great Ocean Road Race 
– The event continued to showcase the 
Great Ocean Road, Geelong, Bellarine 
and Surf Coast regions and cemented 
itself as the highest-rating cycling event 
in Australia, through the live broadcast 
of the UCI WorldTour Elite Men’s Race on 
the Seven Network. Both elite races were 
streamed live on Seven’s digital channel, 
7Plus and beamed internationally to over 
140 countries. 

Crowds continued to descend on the 
region with approximately 100,000 
spectators lining the course route to cheer 
on the world’s best male and female 
cyclists in the first one-day UCI WorldTour 
race of the year. 

Melbourne’s credentials as a cycling 
destination were solidified with the 
second edition of the Towards Zero Race 
Melbourne criterium event on the  
Formula 1™ Grand Prix track at Albert 
Park, prior to the Cadel Evans Great 
Ocean Road Race. Additionally, around 
3,000 riders joined Cadel Evans to 
participate in the annual Swisse   
People’s Ride.

White Night – In its sixth year and with  
the largest attendance to date, over 
600,000 people celebrated Melbourne’s 
true twenty-four seven  culture during 
White Night Melbourne 2018, with  
12 continuous hours of art installations, 
exhibitions, music and performances.

The following month in March, over 
60,000 people celebrated art, creativity 
and community in the second edition of 
White Night Ballarat. In 2018, Visit Victoria 
extended White Night regional events 
to include Bendigo and Geelong for 
September and October respectively. 

Visit Victoria continued its ongoing 
partnership with the iconic Melbourne 
Food and Wine Festival to jointly position 
the State as a culinary destination by 
celebrating Melbourne and regional 
Victoria’s product offerings through  
a comprehensive program of events. 

Real Madrid World of Football 
Experience – Visit Victoria partnered 
with TEG and iEC Exhibitions, to secure 
the world premiere of the exhibition. In 
June 2018, fans immersed themselves 
in a 360-degree cinematic match 
day experience and tested their skills 
against the world’s best, through  
an interactive Come Play zone.

Creative and Visual Arts Acquisition – 
Events Delivered and Supported

The House of Dior – This event 
welcomed over 276,000 visitors from 
August to November 2017 at the 
National Gallery of Victoria, making  
it the biggest exhibition of its kind.

MoMA – In partnership with the 
National Gallery of Victoria (NGV), 
Visit Victoria facilitated the largest 
instalment of the Winter Masterpieces 
program to date, the Museum of 
Modern Art (MoMA) exhibition. 
Launched in June 2018, the exhibition 
includes paintings never seen before 
in Australia by some of history’s most 
influential artists including Pablo 
Picasso, Vincent Van Gogh, Marcel 
Duchamp, Henri Matisse and Jackson 
Pollock and runs until October.

Melbourne Food and Wine Festival 
(MFWF) – Visit Victoria continued its 
ongoing partnership with the iconic 
MFWF to jointly position the  
State as a culinary destination by 
celebrating Melbourne and regional 
Victoria’s product offerings through  
a comprehensive program of events.

Virgin Australia Melbourne Fashion 
Festival (VAMFF) – Visit Victoria’s 
support for Australia’s largest 
consumer fashion event continued 
in 2018, celebrating established and 
emerging designers. World-class 
runways and beauty workshops 
continued to attract crowds, and 
fashion seminars appealed to industry.  

Theatre and Performing Arts  
Acquisition – Events Secured

Harry Potter and the Cursed Child – 
Secured exclusively to Melbourne, after 
award-winning stops in London and  
New York. 

Come From Away – This Tony Award 
winning ground-breaking musical 
tells the true heart-warming story of 
humanity in the immediate aftermath  
of the terrorist attacks of September 
11 in 2001 and will premiere in July 2019. 

Helpmann Awards – Visit Victoria 
secured the prestigious Helpmann 
Awards, set to leave Sydney for the first 
time and take up residence in Melbourne 
from 2019-2021.

Theatre and Performing Arts Acquisition 
– Events Delivered and Supported

Pop-up Globe – The world’s first full-scale 
working replica of Shakespeare’s theatre 
opened in Melbourne in September 2017 
and attracted more than 200,000 people 
over the season.

Creative and Visual Arts Acquisition – 
Events Secured 

Mandela My Life: The Official Exhibition 
– In partnership with TEG and iEC 
Exhibitions, Visit Victoria secured the 
world premiere of this new exhibition 
for September 2018 at the Melbourne 
Museum. The exhibition commemorates, 
illuminates and more importantly shares 
Nelson Mandela’s living legacy with  
the world.
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Australian Tourism Data Warehouse

Membership Growth – As at June  
2018 over 5,000 Victorian products take 
advantage of an Australian Tourism  
Data Warehouse (ATDW) listing, a  
13 per cent increase over the previous 
year. The ATDW continued to be a 
valuable digital marketing tool managed 
and funded by each state tourism 
organisation to supply the collection, 
storage and dissemination of product 
information across national and local 
consumer websites. 

Familiarisations Trade and Media

Familiarisations Facilitated – Visit 
Victoria facilitated 90 international trade, 
205 international media and 67 domestic 
media familiarisations in 2017-2018. A total 
of 603 international trade representatives 
and 1,020 international media and 
115 domestic media participated in 
familiarisations of Melbourne and 
regional Victoria. These activities 
continued to play an integral role in 
developing and maintaining tourism 
product knowledge and exposure across 
media and trade outlets.  

Product Development

International Mentoring Program 
Executed – Visit Victoria delivered the 
International Mentoring Program (IMP) in 
2018, supporting 15 targeted businesses 
with their global distribution partnerships.

Aboriginal Tourism Development –  
In 2017-2018 Visit Victoria appointed an 
Aboriginal Tourism Business Development 
Manager to drive Victoria’s engagement 
with Aboriginal tourism businesses, 
develop product and content, support 
capability growth and undertake 
marketing initiatives, to increase 
awareness and drive visitation to 
Victoria’s Aboriginal offerings. 

Tourism Excellence – A renewed  
emphasis on product development 
resulted in revitalised Tourism Excellence 
Guides hosted on the new Visit Victoria 
corporate website. The online information 
enables tourism businesses to access 
product development and marketing 
information twenty-four seven. 

Cruise Arrivals – Visit Victoria has played 
a key role in increasing Victoria’s presence 
in cruise line itineraries. A record 121 cruise 
ships visited Melbourne and regional 
Victoria in 2017-2018, including 111 visits 
to Melbourne and 10 visits to regional 
Victoria. Cruise arrivals to Victoria have 
almost trebled in the past decade. 

Digital Marketing Services  
and Strategy 

The digital marketing services and 
strategy team has made significant 
improvements in managing and 
segmenting visitor and industry data  
to strengthen the quality of Visit 
Victoria’s data consumer profiles, whilst 
working towards compliance to new 
privacy legislation. 

Data acquisition strategies have 
continually been deployed through 
online mediums across intrastate, 
interstate and international campaigns 
to further enrich and grow Visit Victoria’s 
visitor profiles. 

HIGHLIGHTS

Digital

Data Management Platform – 
Successfully delivered phase one of the 
new data management platform (DMP) 
that includes building customer data 
points through strategic partnerships 
and using that data to create detailed 
profiles, to effectively target visitors 
with personalised content to convert 
them to travel to Victoria.

Website Advancements – Significant 
improvements to the content 
management system of the Visit 
Melbourne consumer website, 
including a new mobile web design and 
platform upgrade, which continued 
to aid the visitor at all stages of the 
journey, whether consuming the media 
via a desktop or mobile device. 

Conversion Partnership Secured –  
A new online conversion partnership 
was secured with Booking.com, 
representing a significant leap forward 
in facilitating the consumer experience 
with a globally recognised and reliable 
booking experience to enhance  
the visitor journey.

In 2017-2018 Visit Victoria adopted a new digital 
management platform that builds customer data 
points through strategic partnerships and creates 
detailed profiles, to effectively target visitors with 
personalised digital content to convert them to 
travel to Victoria.
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2018

1.  Directors

Director details:

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name, Qualifications and
Independence Status

Experience, Special Responsibilities  
and Other Directorships

Paul Little AO 
Independent 
Non- Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016.

Appointed Chairman on 22 February 2017, Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee.

Founder and Chairman of the Little Group, Director of Property Exchange 
Australia, former Managing Director of Toll Holdings and former Chairman  
of Essendon Football Club.

Janet Whiting AM
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 7 April 2016.

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Partner of Gilbert & Tobin legal firm, and Director of tourism, education  
and community-based organisations.

Chris Barlow
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016.

Member of Remuneration Committee.

Chairman of Northern Territory Airports, Board member of Australian Rail 
Track Corporation, former Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director  
of Australian Pacific Airports Australia.

Peter Burnett AM
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016.

National President of the Australian Hotels Association (AHA), Victorian 
President of AHA. Chairman of the Australian Gaming Council and Chairman 
of the EJ Whitten Foundation.

Peter Crinis
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016.

Chief Operating Officer for Crown Hotels and Food and Beverage. Board 
member of the Tourism Accommodation Australia and Melbourne Food  
and Wine Festival.

Helen Moran
Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016.

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Business Development and Skifields ANZ: Consultant.

Common Board member.

Mount Buller & Mount Stirling Alpine Resort Management Board.

Falls Creek Alpine Resort Management Board.

Mount Hotham Alpine Resort Management Board.

Sara Quon
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016.

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Group Chief Executive Officer for Beechworth Honey, former Marketing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Melbourne Food and Wine Festival.

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of the trading entity Visit Victoria 
Limited (the Company), and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its trading subsidiary   
Melbourne Convention Bureau Ltd, for the year ended 30 June 2018 and the Auditor’s Report thereon. 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Name, Qualifications and
Independence Status

Experience, Special Responsibilities  
and Other Directorships

Gerry Ryan OAM
Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016.

Founder and owner of Jayco, Chairman of Global Creatures

Lyell Strambi
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 30 June 2016.

Deputy Chairman, Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Australia Pacific Airports 
Corporation, former Chief Executive Officer of Qantas Airways Domestic

Wai Tang
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 27 July 2016.

Member of the Remuneration Committee.

Non-Executive Director for Vicinity Centres Ltd, JB HiFi Ltd and Melbourne 
Festival Ltd, former Operations Director for Just Group and General 
Manager of Business Development for Pacific Brands.

Deborah Beale
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 18 January 2018.

Chair of Hyperion Asset Management Ltd, Chair of Hyperion Holdings Ltd, 
Chair of Federation Square, Director of The Production Company, Pinnacle 
Investment Management Ltd and Victorian Ports Corporation Ltd.

Lewis Martin
Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Appointed 20 October 2017.

Seven Melbourne: Managing Director, Royal Children’s Hospital Good Friday 
Appeal: Board member, Royal Children’s Hospital Foundation: Director, Cure 
for MND Foundation: Director, Racing.com: Board member

2. Company Secretary

Mr Keith Herdman, Certified Practising Accountant, was appointed to the position of Company Secretary effective 
13 February 2017.

3. Directors’ Meetings

Directors’ Board Meetings Audit and Risk Committee 
Meetings

Remuneration Committee 
Meetings

A B A B A B

Mr Paul Little AO 9 9 - - 2 2

Ms Janet Whiting AM 9 9 9 9 - -

Mr Chris Barlow 9 9 - - 2 2

Mr Peter Burnett AM 8 9 - - - -

Mr Peter Crinis 7 9 - - - -

Ms Helen Moran 9 9 9 9 - -

A – Meetings attended        B – Meetings eligible attend
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3. Directors’ Meetings (continued)

Director Board Meetings Audit and Risk Committee 
Meetings

Remuneration Committee 
Meetings

A B A B A B

Ms Sara Quon 8 9 7 9 - -

Mr Gerry Ryan OAM 7 9 - - - -

Mr Lyell Strambi 7 9 6 9 - -

Ms Wai Tang 6 9 - - 1 2

Ms Deborah Beale 4 5 - - - -

Mr Lewis Martin 5 7 - - - -

A – Meetings attended        B – Meetings eligible attend

4. Audit and Risk Committee

A documented charter was prepared for the Audit and Risk Committee and approved by the Board. A minimum  
of three members is required and they must be independent, Non-Executive Directors. The Chairperson may  
not be the Chairperson of the Board. The committee oversees and advises on the development and review  
of a framework of internal control for management of the consolidated entity.

The external auditors, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings at the discretion of the committee.

5. Remuneration Committee

The Board established a Remuneration Committee with the objective for ensuring remuneration structures are 
equitable and aligned with the long-term interests of the Company. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on remuneration and incentive 
arrangements for senior executives and executives reporting the Chief Executive Officer. The Remuneration 
Committee may consult with external advisers in the process of developing Visit Victoria’s remuneration 
framework. 

6. Risk Management

A Risk Management Framework was approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and adopted by the Board for the 
consolidated entity. The framework was developed in consultation with external advisers to ensure it is consistent 
with the Australian Risk Management Standard, with an internal control system in place to enable the executive  
to understand, manage and satisfactorily control risk exposures. 

Overview of the Risk Management System

The Board oversees the establishment and implementation of the consolidated entity’s Risk Management System. 
The Board has established and implemented the Audit and Risk Committee, with the role of assessing, monitoring 
and managing the operational, financial reporting and compliance risks for the consolidated entity.

Environmental Regulation

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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7. Ethical Standards

Conflict of Interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with 
those of the Company. The Board has developed procedures to assist directors to disclose potential conflicts  
of interest.

Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a Board matter, the director concerned 
is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.

From time to time, the Directors receive invitations to events. Such events relate to marketing launches or  
are either part of the major events calendar or may be events of a similar or potential nature. Such invitations  
are complimentary. Directors are encouraged to accept such invitations given the nature of the business of  
the Company. 

8. Company Objectives, Strategies and Principal Activities

Visit Victoria Limited (the ‘Company’) is a public company limited by guarantee that is incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3008. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year end 30 June 2018 comprises the Company and 
its subsidiary (together referred to as the ‘consolidated entity’).

From its inception on 7 April 2016, the Company’s role for the Government of the State of Victoria has been to have 
a unified and dedicated approach to growing Victoria’s visitor economy through tourism marketing and event 
acquisition. A cohesive, new approach has been created to market Melbourne and Victoria to attract more visitors 
and world-class events to the State and consolidate Melbourne and Victoria’s position as a leading global tourism 
and events destination.

The Company is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in providing tourism services as well as acquiring 
and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy.

9. Financial Review

The consolidated entity has recorded a surplus result of $12,285,527 (2017 restated: $12,409,582) for the year ended  
30 June 2018. This result reflects a change in the application of accounting standards from the previous year  
by the Company.

During 2017-2018 Visit Victoria reviewed the treatment of grant revenue received from the State Government. 
This review considered the appropriate treatment as required by Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1004 
Contributions. The Company had previously assessed that funding received under specific grant  programs was 
reciprocal where the terms and conditions of the grant or contract requires unspent monies or monies not spent  
in accordance with the terms and conditions to be repaid. Advice has been received during the current year that 
this treatment last year was technically incorrect. 

During the year the Company received $12,882,730 (2017: $4,845,878) of specific and other purpose grant income 
that relates to committed expenditure in specific contracts that will be expended in a future financial year. Visit 
Victoria has recognised $12,882,730 as revenue this year that complies with AASB 1004 that would otherwise have 
been recorded as a liability in the statement of financial position as a grant received but not yet spent. There is 
corresponding expenditure that will be incurred in future periods that directly offsets this revenue. 

Visit Victoria has commitments, contracts and plans for the corresponding expenditure of $12,882,730 that will be 
incurred in future periods. There will be no further grant revenue to offset this expenditure. This treatment renders 
the Company susceptible to volatility in reported results which are related purely to the timing of receipt of grants 
and the timing of related payments.
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10. Dividends

Under the Company’s constitution, no dividends are allowed to be paid to members of the Company.

11. State of Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 
that occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in these financial statements.

12. Likely Developments

There are no likely developments that will influence the Company’s operations or the expected results  
of its operations.

13. Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 

Indemnification

Since its inception, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying against  
a liability any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company.

Insurance Premiums

During the financial year, the Company has paid insurance premiums of $15,307 (2017: $2,910) in respect of 
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. These insurance premiums related to insurance of Directors and  
officers of the Company named in this report. The insurance policies outlined do not contain details of the 
premium paid in respect of individual Directors and officers of the Company. 

The insurance premiums relate to:

•  costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal  
and whatever their outcome

•  other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach  
of duty or improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

14. Member’s Guarantee

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the 
Company is wound up the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum amount 
of $10 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2018, the total amount that  
the members of the Company are liable to contribute, if the Company is wound up, is $10 (2017: $10).

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2018

15. Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 84 and forms part of the Directors’ Report  
for financial year ended 30 June 2018. 

This report is made with a resolution of the Directors.

Mr Paul Little AO 
Chairman

Ms Janet Whiting AM
Director

Dated at Melbourne this 5th day of September 2018.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270
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 corporate.visitvictoria.com.au 

16 October 2017

The Hon John Eren MP
Minister for Tourism and Major Events
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Minister

VISIT VICTORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

I am pleased to submit the Visit Victoria Annual Report 2016-17. The document outlines the 
achievements of the organisation for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the expectations of Government.

Yours sincerely

Paul Little AO
Chairman
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Note 2018 2017 
Restated

$ $

Operating revenue 10 (a)  121,361,683  108,254,233 

Revenue relating to future years 10 (b)  12,882,730  4,845,878 

Employee benefit expenses 13  (18,528,419)  (17,368,143)

Sales and marketing expenses  (42,398,577)  (38,986,725)

Grant payments  (56,352,118)  (40,041,023)

Administration expenses  (4,244,853)  (4,415,489)

Depreciation and amortisation 16, 17  (834,341)  (582,121)

Finance income 11  399,422  702,972 

Net operating profit  12,285,527  12,409,582 

Total comprehensive income  12,285,527  12,409,582 

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company  11,104,591  12,050,771 

Non-controlling interests  1,180,936  358,811 

 12,285,527  12,409,582 

The notes on pages 52 to 82 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June 2018

Note 2018 2017 
Restated

$ $

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 33,984,161 11,026,355

Trade and other receivables 14 5,212,373 9,550,745

Other assets 493,558 371,435

Total current assets 39,690,092 20,948,535

Property, plant and equipment 16 3,232,986 3,932,525

Intangible assets 17 923,210 25,272

Other assets 21,551 16,642

Total non-current assets 4,177,747 3,974,439

Total assets 43,867,839 24,922,974

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 14,086,640 7,245,259

Employee benefits 12 2,351,848 2,574,814

Borrowings  -   14,258

Total current liabilities 16,438,488 9,834,331

Employee benefits 12 251,585 196,404

Total non-current liabilities 251,585 196,404

Total liabilities 16,690,073 10,030,735

Net assets 27,177,766 14,892,239

Equity

Retained earnings 23,155,362 12,050,771

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 23,155,362 12,050,771

Non-controlling interest 4,022,404 2,841,468

Total equity 27,177,766 14,892,239

The notes on pages 52 to 82 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2018
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Retained 
Earnings

Non-controlling 
Interests

Total  
Equity

$ $ $

Balance as at 1 July 2016  -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income  7,204,893  146,733  7,351,626 

Acquisition of subsidiary with non-controlling interest  -    1,492,846  1,492,846 

Previously reported balance at 30 June 2017  7,204,893  1,639,579  8,844,472 

Adjustments  4,845,878  1,201,889  6,047,767 

Restated balance at 30 June 2017  12,050,771  2,841,468  14,892,239 

Total comprehensive income/loss  11,104,591  1,180,936  12,285,527 

Balance at 30 June 2018  23,155,362  4,022,404  27,177,766 

The notes on pages 52 to 82 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Note 2018 2017 
Restated

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  151,771,112 109,737,918

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (122,908,653) (96,222,631)

Interest received 11  399,422  702,972 

Net GST paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO)  (5,257,072)  (2,416,217)

Net cash from operating activities  24,004,809  11,802,042 

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary entity (net of cash received)  -    3,599,904 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 16  (1,033,173)  (4,329,921)

Acquisition of intangibles 17  -    (28,943)

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,033,173)  (758,960)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of finance leases  (13,830)  (16,727)

Net cash used in financing activities  (13,830)  (16,727)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  22,957,806  11,026,355 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July  11,026,355  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  33,984,161  11,026,355 

The notes on pages 52 to 82 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2018
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

1. Reporting Entity

Visit Victoria Ltd (‘the Company’) is a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled  
in Australia at the year end 30 June 2018.

The Company’s registered office is at Collins Square Tower Two, Level 28, 727 Collins Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 
Australia 3008.

The Company was registered with effect from 7 April 2016, and commenced operations from 1 July 2016. Operations 
of the Company including its subsidiary were consolidated into new premises at Collins Square on 2 December 2016. 

The Company operates in one industry and geographic segment being primarily involved in providing tourism 
services, as well as acquiring and developing business events and major events for the Victorian visitor economy. 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiary (collectively the ‘Group’ and 
individually ‘Group companies’).

On 13 August 2015, the Victorian State Government announced that, in response to the Victorian Visitor Economy 
Review, it intended to establish Visit Victoria Ltd to drive growth in the visitor economy. The Company brought 
together the operations of the two government-controlled entities of Tourism Victoria (TV) and the Victorian 
Major Events Company Ltd (VMEC). Agreement was also reached with the members of Melbourne Convention 
Bureau Ltd (MCB) on 23 May 2016 that the Company would be allocated 51 per cent voting rights, with its members 
retaining the remaining 49 per cent voting rights. On 1 July 2016, Visit Victoria assumed responsibility of all tourism 
marketing and major events functions undertaken by TV and VMEC.

2. Restatement of Comparative Information

i)   During the year the Group applied Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1004 Contributions for recognising 
grant income received and receivable. This represents a change in accounting policy with regards to grant 
income recognition which arose from an assessment of grant funding agreements. It was concluded that 
the Group received non-reciprocal grant income with insufficient specific and enforceable performance 
obligations. Accordingly, funding that was received during the prior year that was deferred in the consolidated 
statement of financial position has been brought to account as revenue in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss in the period it was received. 

  The impact of this change to grant income recognition is an increase in the prior year net profit of $4,845,878 
and a reduction in current liabilities of $4,845,878.  

ii)   The Group re-assessed its relationship in the management of event funding by recognising certain grant 
income and grant expenditure in a principal relationship rather than as agent. The result of this change was  
a decrease to the Group’s prior year net profit of $76,170 and an increase in its cash and cash equivalents  
of $913,642. 

iii)  The Group re-assessed its methodology for the recognition of costs incurred in connection with the securing 
and hosting of certain events. As a consequence of this change in methodology, the Group’s prior year 
net profit has increased by $288,248, with a corresponding decrease in other payables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

2. Restatement of Comparative Information (continued)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 
Previously 

Reported

Adjustments As  
Restated

Visit Victoria MCB

$ $ $ $

Revenue  99,162,132  4,845,878  2,149,441  106,157,451 

Sales and marketing expenses  (39,274,973)  -    288,248  (38,986,725)

Grant payments  (37,815,098)  -    (2,225,925)  (40,041,023)

Finance income  702,658  -    314  702,972 

Operating profit  7,351,626  4,845,878  212,078  12,409,582 

Profit  7,351,626  4,845,878  212,078  12,409,582 

 -   

Total comprehensive income  7,351,626  4,845,878  212,078  12,409,582 

Owners of the Company  7,204,893  4,845,878  -    12,050,771 

Non-controlling interests  146,733  -    212,078  358,811 

 7,351,626  4,845,878  212,078  12,409,582 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2017

2017 
Previously 

Reported

Adjustments As  
Restated

Visit Victoria MCB

$ $ $ $

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,112,713  -   913,642 11,026,355

Total current assets 20,034,893  -   913,642 20,948,535

Total assets 24,009,332  -   913,642 24,922,974

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 12,379,384  (4,845,878)  (288,247) 7,245,259

Total current liabilities 14,968,456  (4,845,878)  (288,247) 9,834,331

Total liabilities 15,164,860  (4,845,878)  (288,247) 10,030,735

Net assets 8,844,472 4,845,878 1,201,889 14,892,239

Equity

Retained earnings 7,204,893 4,845,878  -   12,050,771

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company

7,204,893 4,845,878  -   12,050,771

Non-controlling interest 1,639,579  -   1,201,889 2,841,468

Total equity 8,844,472 4,845,878 1,201,889 14,892,239
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

2.  Restatement of Comparative Information (continued)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Retained 
Earnings

Non-
controlling 

Interest

Total 
Equity

$ $ $

Balance as at 1 July 2016  -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income/loss  7,204,893  146,733  7,351,626 

Acquisition of subsidiary with non-controlling interest  -    1,492,846  1,492,846 

Previously reported balance at 30 June 2017  7,204,893  1,639,579  8,844,472 

Adjustments – Visit Victoria  4,845,878  -    4,845,878 

Adjustments – MCB -  1,201,889  1,201,889 

As a restated balance at 30 June 2017  12,050,771  2,841,468  14,892,239 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 
Previously 

Reported

Adjustments As  
Restated

Visit Victoria MCB

$ $ $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  107,588,477 -  2,149,441  109,737,918 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (93,996,707) -  (2,225,924)  (96,222,631)

Interest received  702,658 -  314  702,972 

Net cash from operating activities  11,878,211  -    (76,169)  11,802,042 

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary entity  
(net of cash received)

 2,610,093 -  989,811  3,599,904 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,748,771)  -    989,811  (758,960)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  10,112,713  -    913,642  11,026,355 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2017  10,112,713  -    913,642  11,026,355 

3. Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. They were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5th September 
2018. Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in Note 7.

4. Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional 
currency. 

5. Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise stated.

6. Going Concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which assumes continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

7. Significant Accounting Policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements.

(a) Basis of Consolidation

(i) Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to 
the Group (refer (a) (ii)). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as 
are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment (refer (j) (ii)). 
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred.

The combination of MCB was achieved through the allocation of 51 per cent voting rights to Visit Victoria Ltd 
without the transfer of any consideration. Refer to (a) (iv) below.

(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

(iii) Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated. 

(iv) Non-controlling Interests

As outlined in Note 1, through the allocation of 51 per cent voting rights, Visit Victoria has control of MCB. 
However, Visit Victoria Ltd is not entitled to any financial return from its involvement with MCB during its 
operation, nor does it have any certainty to entitlement to any financial return at the time of the winding  
up of MCB. Accordingly, non-controlling interests have been assessed at 100 per cent. 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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7. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)  Foreign Currency

(i)  Foreign Currency Balance Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the relevant contract 
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign monetary items at reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary assets carried at fair value that are denominated  
in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the rates prevailing at the date when the  
fair value was determined.

Foreign currency translation differences are recognised in ‘other economic flows’ and accumulated  
in a separate component of equity, in the period in which they arise.

(c)  Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed  
as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the entity’s 
activities as described below.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Grants

Grants are recognised as income when the Company gains control of the underlying assets. Where grants 
are reciprocal, income is recognised as Visit Victoria has satisfied its performance obligations under the 
terms of the grant. Non-reciprocal grants are recognised as income when the grant is received or receivable. 
Conditional grants may be reciprocal or non-reciprocal depending on the terms of the grant. 

(ii) Industry Cooperative Revenue

The amount recognised for co-operative ventures refers to funds directly received for activities such as 
brochure participation and co-operative marketing. Funds from co-operative venture participants are 
recognised as revenue in the year when co-operative venture activities take pace. Funds received prior  
to activities having taken place are recognised as funds received in advance where reciprocal, or as  
revenue if not reciprocal.

(iii)  In-kind Contributions

In-kind contributions that are non-reciprocal transfers to the Group are recognised at their fair value  
as both income and expenditure when received, where fair value is determined with reference to similar  
goods and services.

(iv)  Membership Contributions 

Membership contributions are recognised when received or due and receivable, except where received  
in respect of the following financial year.

(v) Advertising and Marketing Revenue

Advertising and marketing revenue is recognised when received or receivable.

(vi) Other Income

Other income includes booth/participation fee income, reimbursements from external organisations,  
co-operative ventures income and value applied to event hospitality provided to other bodies on a contra 
basis and other miscellaneous income. 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

(d)  Finance Income and Finance Costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

•  interest income
•  interest expense
•  the net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
•  interest expense on finance leases. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method, which allocates the interest  
over the relevant period.

(e)  Employee Benefits

(i) Short-term Employee Benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised  
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this  
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined Contribution Plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future 
payments is available.

(iii) Other Long-term Employee Benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted  
to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

(f) Income Tax

The consolidated entity is exempt from income tax under section 24AS of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment

(i) Recognition and Measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs  
on qualifying assets, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. 

(ii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual 
values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

• Leased plant 5 years
• Leasehold improvements 3-7 years
• Plant and equipment 3-12 years
• Fixtures and fittings 5-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted  
if appropriate.

• Leasehold Improvements

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold properties is amortised over the unexpired period of the lease,  
or the estimated useful life of the improvement to the Group, whichever is shorter.
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7.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)  Intangible Assets 

(i) Initial Recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, those intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 
and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values  
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

•  Computer software 2-5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted  
if appropriate.

(i)  Financial Instruments

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair  
value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale 
financial assets.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss, and other financial liabilities.

(i) Non-derivative Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Recognition and Derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the date when they are 
originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date when the 
entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. 
Any interest in such derecognised financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised  
as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled  
or expire. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

(ii) Non-derivative Financial Assets – Measurement

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
 or loss

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified 
as held-for-trading or is designated as such on initial recognition. Directly 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value 
and changes therein, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised  
in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity 
financial assets

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and receivables These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair 
value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency 
differences on debt instruments are recognised in comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the fair value reserve. When these assets are derecognised,  
the gain or loss in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Non-derivative Financial Liabilities – Measurement

A financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or  
is designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes 
therein, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss.

Other non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using  
the effective interest method. 

(j)  Impairment

(i) Non-derivative Financial Assets

Financial assets not classified as at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-
accounted investee, are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence  
of impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

•  default or delinquency by a debtor
•  indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.
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7.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

For an investment in an equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged 
decline in its fair value below its cost. The Group considers a decline of 20 per cent to be significant and a period of 
nine months to be prolonged.

Financial assets 
measured at 
amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets measured at both 
an individual asset and a collective level. All individually significant assets are 
individually assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be impaired are 
then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 
individually identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively 
assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried out by grouping together 
assets with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the 
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred and makes an adjustment  
if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely  
to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends. 

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between an asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at  
the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss 
and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that there are no 
realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If 
the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,  
then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by 
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve to profit or loss. 
The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of 
any principal repayment and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. If the fair value of an 
impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases and the increase 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise,  
it is reversed through other comprehensive income. 

(ii) Non-financial Assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment  
loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

(k)  Provisions

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised as finance cost in profit and loss.

(l) Leases

(i) Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease.

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group separates payments and 
other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 
basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate 
the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 
underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost  
on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

(ii)  Leased Assets

Assets held by the Group under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards  
of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased asset is measured initially at an amount equal  
to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s 
statement of financial position. 

(iii)  Lease Payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the 
term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term  
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(m) Goods and Services Tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances,  
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) included as a current asset or liability in the statement 
of financial position. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities are recoverable from, or payable  
to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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8.  Standards Issued but Not Yet Effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 July 2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the 
following new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 

Standards Effective for Annual 
Reporting Periods 

Beginning on or After

Expected to be Initially 
Applied in the Financial 

Year End

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant 
amending standards

1 January 2018 30 June 2019

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’  
and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit Entities

1 January 2019 30 June 2020

AASB 16 ‘Leases’ 1 January 2019 30 June 2020

The Group has not yet quantified the impact of these new standards and interpretations. The Group expects  
to disclose its transition approach and quantitative information before adoption.

9.  Use of Judgements and Estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of  
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are  
recognised prospectively.
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10.  Revenue

See accounting policies in Note 7 (c).

2018 2017       
Restated 

$ $

(a) Operating revenue

State Government funding – DEDJTR 113,220,827 98,867,450

Other Government grants 1,780,182 250,000

Other grant funding 2,239,100 2,194,123

Industry co-operative revenue 1,647,764 1,395,378

In-kind contribution 232,883 254,457

Membership revenue 1,054,491 1,002,319

Advertising sales revenue 175,075 220,600

Other miscellaneous Income 1,011,361 4,069,906

Operating revenue 121,361,683 108,254,233

(b) Other revenue  

State Government funding in advance – DEDJTR (1) 12,882,730 4,845,878

(1) Represents grants received that relate to expenditure to be incurred in the future financial year
DEDJTR: Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources.

11.  Net Finance Income 

See accounting policies in Note 7 (d).

2018 2017 

$ $

Interest income on bank deposit 283,389 597,494

Net foreign exchange gain 116,033 105,478

Finance income 399,422 702,972

Interest expense on financial liability - -

Net Finance Income 399,422 702,972

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)



66   VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2017-2018 VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2017-2018   67   

12.  Employee Benefits

See accounting policies in Note 7 (e).

2018 2017 

$ $

Liability for annual leave 1,127,130 1,080,078

Liability for long service leave 1,279,260 1,494,322

Liability for employee bonus 193,682 194,699

Liability for other 3,361 2,119

2,603,433 2,771,218

Current 2,351,848 2,574,814

Non-current 251,585 196,404

2,603,433 2,771,218

The Group has paid contributions of $1,168,010 (2017: $995,864) (Note 13) to defined contribution superannuation 
plans on behalf of employees for the year end 30 June 2018.

The Group contributes to the State Superannuation Fund (revised and new) defined benefit plan in Australia.  
The Group does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of this plan because the Group has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s 
defined benefit liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However, superannuation contributions paid 
or payable for the Group’s employees for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial 
position respectively. 
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13.  Employee Benefit Expenses

See accounting policies in Note 7 (e).

2018 2017 

$ $

Wages and salary and associated on costs 15,972,013 15,294,692

Workcover expense 47,017 37,387

Annual leave expense 1,159,210 874,232

Contributions to defined contribution plans 1,168,010 995,864

Contributions to defined benefit plans 43,879 38,212

Longservice leave expense 138,290 127,756

18,528,419 17,368,143

14.  Trade and Other Receivables

See accounting policies in Note 7 (i).

2018 2017       
Restated 

$ $

Trade receivables due from related parties 4,155,349 3,673,677

Trade receivables – Tourism Victoria administrative restructure  -  5,276,068

Trade receivables 1,020,165 232,033

Provision for impairment (9,117) (82,805)

Other receivables 45,976 451,772

5,212,373 9,550,745

Current 5,212,373 9,550,745

Non-current  -    -   

5,212,373 9,550,745
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15.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

See accounting policies in Note 7 (i).

2018 2017       
Restated 

$ $

Bank balances 33,983,617 11,019,738

Cash on hand 544 6,617

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 33,984,161 11,026,355

16.  Property, Plant and Equipment

See accounting policies in Note 7 (g).

Fixtures  
And Fittings

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Plant And 
Equipment

Leased  
Plant

Total

$ $ $ $ $

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2016  -    -    -    -    -   

Acquisitions through business 
combinations

 -    -    18,347  32,480  50,827 

Other additions  749,565  3,017,155  563,201  -    4,329,921 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 30 June 2017  749,565  3,017,155  581,548  32,480  4,380,748 

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2016  -    -    -    -    -   

Depreciation  61,814  249,412  120,734  16,263  448,223 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 30 June 2017  61,814  249,412  120,734  16,263  448,223 

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2017  687,751  2,767,743  460,814  16,217  3,932,525 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Fixtures And 
Fittings

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Plant And 
Equipment

Leased 
Plant

Total

$ $ $ $ $

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2017  749,565  3,017,155  581,548  32,480  4,380,749 

Other additions  1,833  -    52,999  -    54,832 

Disposals  -    -   (1,959)  -   (1,959)

Balance at 30 June 2018  751,398  3,017,155  632,588  32,480  4,433,622 

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2017  61,814  249,412  120,734  16,263  448,223 

Depreciation  107,190  431,023  202,690  11,509  752,411 

Balance at 30 June 2018  169,004  680,435  323,424  27,772  1,200,634 

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2017  687,751  2,767,743  460,814  16,217  3,932,525 

At 30 June 2018  582,394  2,336,720  309,165  4,708  3,232,988 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16.  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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17. Intangible Assets

See accounting policies in Note 7 (h).

Computer Software

$

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2016 -

Acquisitions through business combinations  130,227 

Other acquisitions – internally developed  28,943 

Balance at 30 June 2017  159,170 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2016  -   

Amortisation  133,898 

Balance at 30 June 2017  133,898 

Carrying amounts

As at 30 June 2016  -   

As at 30 June 2017  25,272 

Cost 

Balance at 1 July 2017  159,170 

Other additions  978,341 

Balance at 30 June 2018  1,137,511 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2017  133,898 

Amortisation  80,403 

Balance at 30 June 2018  214,301 

Carrying amounts

As at 30 June 2017  25,272 

At 30 June 2018  923,210 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

18.  Trade and Other Payables

See accounting policies in Note 7 (i).

Information about the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk is included in Note 20.

2018 2017 
Restated

$ $

Trade payables due to related parties 110,000 207,443

Other trade payables 4,619,584 5,268,614

Accrued expenses 8,568,908 650,522

Trade payables 13,298,492 6,126,579

Income in advance 54,720 166,933

Other payables 733,428 951,747

Other payables 788,148 1,118,680

14,086,640 7,245,259

Current 14,086,640 7,245,259

Non-current  -    -   

14,086,640 7,245,259

19.  Subsidiaries

See accounting policy in Note 7 (a) (ii). 

Set out below are the details of Visit Victoria’s linked subsidiary.

Name Principle Place  
Of Business

Voting Interest 
2018

Voting Interest 
2017

Melbourne Convention Bureau Limited Australia 51% 51%

Visit Victoria Ltd is not entitled to any equity interest of MCB as explained in Note 7 (a) (i).

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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20.  Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management

(a)  Accounting Classifications and Fair Values

The financial instruments held by the consolidated entity at the reporting date were non-derivative financial 
assets (trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) and non-derivative financial liabilities (trade  
and other payables). For all of these financial instruments, the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation  
of fair value because of their short-term maturity and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

Note 2018 2017 
Restated

$ $

Carrying Amount

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Other trade receivables 14 5,212,373 9,550,745

Cash and cash equivalents 15 33,984,161 11,026,355

39,196,534 20,577,100

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Other trade payables 18 14,086,640 7,245,259

14,086,640 7,245,259

(b)  Measurement of Fair Values

(i) Valuation Technique and Significant Unobservable Inputs

No financial instruments are held at fair value, however, should items be held at fair value in the future the Group’s 
policy for determining the fair values and net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is as follows: 

•  The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions are traded on 
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

• The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models on discounted cash flow analysis.

(c) Financial Risk Management 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

•  Credit risk (see (c)(ii))
•  Liquidity risk (see (c)(iii))
•  Currency risk (see (c)(iv)).

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
A.B.N. 37 611 725 270

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

(i)  Risk Management Framework

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 
monitor and set appropriate adherence limits and controls. Risk management policies and systems are regularly 
reviewed to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment  
in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group has an Audit and Risk Committee which oversees the internal and external audit functions and 
monitors the Group’s internal control and compliance framework. The Audit and Risk Committee also monitors 
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the Risk 
Management Framework in relation to risks faced by the consolidated entity.

(ii)  Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails  
to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents, including other assets, of $33,984,161

(2017 restated: $11,026,355) at 30 June 2018, which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets.  
The cash and cash equivalents are held with financial institution counterparties with strong credit ratings.

Trade and Other Receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The Group 
does not operate as a ‘trading’ entity and trade receivables relate to sundry receivables from a small number of 
counterparties. As at 30 June 2018, there is $9,117 allowance for impairment. (2017: $82,805).

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.

Carrying 
Amount

Neither 
Past 

Due Nor 
Impaired

Past Due  
But Not Impaired

Past Due  
And Impaired 

Less Than 1 Month 1-3 Months 3 Months–1 Year 3 Months–1 Year

$ $ $ $ $ $

30 June 2017

Trade and other 
receivables

 9,550,745  9,383,548  27,673  12,854  44,694  81,977 

 9,550,745  9,383,548  27,673  12,854  44,694  81,977 

30 June 2018

Trade and other 
receivables

 5,212,373  894,105  4,279,887  11,194  18,070  9,117 

 5,212,373  894,105  4,279,887  11,194  18,070  9,117 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

20.  Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

(c)  Financial Risk Management (continued)

(iii)  Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with  
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when  
they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation. The Group typically ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected 
operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted.

Exposure to Liquidity Risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts 
are gross and undiscounted.

Carrying 
Amount

Nominal 
Amount

Past Due But Not Impaired

0–1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years
More than 

5 years

$ $ $ $ $ $

30 June 2017 Restated

Trade and  
other payables

 7,078,326  7,078,326  7,078,326  -    -    -   

Income in advance  166,933  166,933  166,933  -    -    -   

 7,245,259  7,245,259  7,245,259  -    -    -   

30 June 2018

Trade and  
other payables

 14,031,920  14,031,920  14,031,920  -    -    -   

Income in advance  54,720  54,720  54,720  -    -    -   

 14,086,640  14,086,640  14,086,640  -    -    -   

(iv)  Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which 
transactions are denominated and the respective functional currency of Group companies. The functional 
currency of Group companies is the Australian dollar (AUD). The currencies in which these transactions are 
primarily denominated are New Zealand dollar (NZD), US dollar (USD), Euro (EUR), Pound sterling (GBP),  
Singapore dollar (SGD), Japanese yen (JPY), and Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CYR).

Exposure to Currency Risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management  
of the Group is as follows: 

30 June 2017

NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY CNY

Cash and cash equivalents  60,420  203,235  122,275  125,446  122,923  83,358  1,987 

Trade receivables  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial assets  60,420  203,235  122,275  125,446  122,923  83,358  1,987 

Trade payables  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Net exposure  60,420  203,235  122,275  125,446  122,923  83,358  1,987 

30 June 2018

NZD USD EUR GBP SGD JPY CNY

Cash and cash equivalents  42,398  516,144  48,386  246,926  113,354  422,628  -   

Trade receivables  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial assets  42,398  516,144  48,386  246,926  113,354  422,628  -   

Trade payables  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Net exposure  42,398  516,144  48,386  246,926  113,354  422,628  -   

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

20.  Financial Instruments – Fair Values and Risk Management (continued)

(c)  Financial Risk Management (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the AUD, NZD, USD, EUR, GBP, SGD, JPY or CNY against  
all other currencies at 30 June would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated  
in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes 
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales  
and purchases.

Sensitivity Analysis

30 June 2017

Profit or Loss Equity

10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD  6,042  (6,042)  6,042  (6,042)

USD  20,324  (20,324)  20,324  (20,324)

EUR  12,228  (12,228)  12,228  (12,228)

GBP  12,545  (12,545)  12,545  (12,545)

SGD  12,292  (12,292)  12,292  (12,292)

JPY  8,336  (8,336)  8,336  (8,336)

CNY  199  (199)  199  (199)

 71,964  (71,964)  71,964  (71,964)

Sensitivity Analysis

30 June 2018

Profit or Loss Equity

10% increase 10% decrease 10% increase 10% decrease

NZD  4,240  (4,240)  4,240  (4,240)

USD  51,614  (51,614)  51,614  (51,614)

EUR  4,839  (4,839)  4,839  (4,839)

GBP  24,693  (24,693)  24,693  (24,693)

SGD  11,335  (11,335)  11,335  (11,335)

JPY  42,263  (42,263)  42,263  (42,263)

CNY  -    -   -  -   

 138,984  (138,984)  138,984  (138,984)

Interest Rate Risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the 
Group is as follows.

Nominal Amount
2018

Nominal Amount
2017

$ $

Fixed-rate instruments

Financial assets (weighted average interest rate = 1.53%  2,705,966  3,063,364 

Financial liabilities  -    -   

 2,705,966  3,063,364 

Variable-rate instruments

Financial assets (weighted average interest rate = 1.50%  29,882,085  6,271,035 

Financial liabilities  -    -   

 29,882,085  6,271,035 

Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis for Fixed Rate Instruments.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss or equity.

Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Variable Rate Instruments

Each change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or (decreased)  
the Group’s equity and profit or loss by $298,821 (2017: $62,710). This analysis assumes that all other variables,  
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

21. Operating Leases

See accounting policy in Note 7 (l).

(a)  Leases as  

The Group leases office space under non-cancellable operating leases. The lease period is for seven years, with an 
option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every seven years to reflect market rentals. 
During the year $1,166,888 (2017: $659,070) was recognised as an expense in profit or loss in respect of operating leases. 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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21.  Operating leases (continued)

(a) Leases as Lessee (continued)

(i)  Future Minimum Lease Payments

At 30 June, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were payable as follows:

2018 2017

$ $

Less than one year  1,795,796  1,730,888 

Between one and five years  7,882,338  7,597,434 

More than five years  880,214  2,960,914 

 10,558,348  12,289,236 

(ii)  Amounts Recognised in Profit or Loss

2018 2017

$ $

Lease expense  1,730,888  988,070 

Lease incentive  (564,000)  (329,000)

 1,166,888  659,070 

22.  Commitments

(a)  Grant Commitments Payable

Commitments for the payment of grants under contracts in existence at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities and payable are: 

2018 2017

$ $

Less than one year 15,364,416  14,524,500 

Between one and five years 32,570,291  4,885,000 

More than five years 4,345,000  -   

52,279,707  19,409,500 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

22. Commitments (continued)

(b) Other Commitments

Commitments for the payment of other expenditure under contract in existence at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities and payable are:

2018 2017

$ $

Less than one year 4,857,441  812,456 

Between one and five years 6,731  505,000 

More than five years -  -   

4,864,172  1,317,456 

23. Related Parties 

Visit Victoria Ltd is an entity wholly owned by the Premier of Victoria, funding predominately provided by the 
Department of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and Resources (DEDJTR). Related parties of Visit Victoria 
are considered to include:

•  All key management personnel and their close family members
•  All cabinet ministers and their close family members
•  All departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state 

consolidated financial statements

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

(a) Significant Transactions with Government Related Entities

Visit Victoria received funding and made payments (GST inclusive) to DEDJTR of $138,713,913 (2017 Restated: 
$114,084,661) and $215,256 (2017: $50,000) respectively. 

During the reporting year, the Group had the following government related entity transactions:

2018 2017 Restated

$ $

DEDJTR – State Government Funding 138,713,913 114,084,661

DEDJTR – Contributions (215,256) (50,000)

138,498,657 114,034,661

Transaction Values For The  
Year End 30 June

Balance Outstanding  
As At 30 June

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Treasury Corporation of Victoria  4,155,349 -  4,155,349  101,171 

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

23. Related Parties (continued)

(b) Transactions with Key Management Personnel

(i) Key Management Personnel Compensation

The key management personnel compensation comprised the following: 

2018 2017

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 2,624,478 1,911,827

Post-employment benefits 177,004 77,278

Other long term benefits 218,387 112,113

3,019,869 2,101,218

Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries and non-cash benefits.

(ii) Key Management Personnel and Director Transactions

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that result  
in them having control or significant influence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the year. The terms and conditions of these 
transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, 
in similar transactions with non-key management personnel related companies on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and 
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.

Related Parties  
(Key Management Personnel)

Transaction Values For 
The Year Ending 30 June 

Balance Outstanding  
As At 30 June

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

Peter Crinis Director, Melbourne 
Food & Wine Festival

(i)  2,587,736  2,519,000  -    -   

Gerry Ryan OAM Director, GTR Events 
Pty Ltd

 -    34,877  -    34,877 

Janet Whiting AM Trustee, National 
Gallery of Victoria

(ii)  386,000  275,000  -    275,000 

(iii)  440,526  -    110,000  -   

Deborah Beale Victorian Ports 
Corporation Limited

(iv)  24,424  -    -    -   

Peter Burnett AM Tourism 
Accommodation 
Australia

(v)  2,310  -    -    -   

(i) The Group has paid event funding of $2,587,736 (2017: $2,519,000).
(ii) The Group has received marketing funding of $386,000 (2017: $275,000) in the year.
(iii) The Group has paid $440,526 (2017: $Nil) in the year
(iv) The Group has received $24,424 (2017: Nil) of contributions in the year. 
(v) The Group has received $2,310 (2017: Nil) in funding in the year.

24.  Subsequent Events

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Group, to affect significantly the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities

2018 2017 Restated

$ $

Profit for the year 12,285,527 12,409,582

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 834,341 582,121

13,119,868 12,991,703

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 4,338,372 (8,490,823)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and other assets (127,031) (388,077)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 6,841,385 5,677,637

(Decrease)/increase in employee benefits (167,785) 2,011,602

Net cash provided by operating activities 24,004,809 11,802,042

26.  Auditors’ Remuneration

2018 2017

$ $

Audit and review services 

Victorian Auditor General's Office

Audit and review of financial statements – Company  72,000  70,000 

Audit and review of financial statements – Subsidiary  40,000 -

 112,000  70,000 

Auditors of the subsidiary – KPMG

 Audit and review of financial statements -  35,395 

 -    35,395 

Other services

Other auditors 

In relation to assurance services for the subsidiary – KPMG -  12,195 

In relation to preparation of Fringe Benefit Tax return for the 
Company – KPMG

-  3,500 

In relation to preparation of Fringe Benefit Tax return for the 
Subsidiary – KPMG

-  3,500 

The Victorian Auditor General’s Office (VAGO) was appointed as the auditor for the Subsidiary from 30 May 2018. 

There were no other services provided by the auditor of the Group’s during the financial period.
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27. Parent Entity Disclosures

As at, and throughout, the financial year end 30 June 2018, the parent entity of the Group was Visit Victoria Ltd.

2018 2017 Restated

$ $

Result of parent entity

Profit/(loss) for the year  10,904,591  12,050,771 

Other comprehensive income  -    -   

Total comprehensive income for the year  10,904,591  12,050,771 

Financial position of parent entity at year end

Current assets  34,700,887  17,377,843 

Total assets  38,873,928  21,294,239 

Current liabilities  15,767,489  9,095,715 

Total liabilities  15,918,566  9,243,468 

Total equity of parent entity comprising of:

Retained earnings  22,955,362  12,050,771 

Total equity  22,955,362  12,050,771 

(a)   Parent Entity Contingent Liabilities

There was no contingent liability of the parent entity as at 30th June 2018 (2017: Nil). 

(b)  Parent Entity Capital Commitments for Acquisition of Property Plant and Equipment

The parent entity has no capital commitments as at 30 June 2018 (2017: Nil).

VISIT VICTORIA LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Visit Victoria Ltd (‘the Company’), I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors of Visit Victoria Ltd (the Company):

(a)    the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 42  to 82 are in accordance with the  
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated  
entity as at 30 June 2018 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting  
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)   there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when  
they become due and payable.

Dated at Melbourne this 5th day of September 2018.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on behalf of the Board.

Mr Paul Little AO 
Director

Ms Janet Whiting AM
Director

 

 corporate.visitvictoria.com.au 

16 October 2017

The Hon John Eren MP
Minister for Tourism and Major Events
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Minister

VISIT VICTORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

I am pleased to submit the Visit Victoria Annual Report 2016-17. The document outlines the 
achievements of the organisation for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the expectations of Government.

Yours sincerely

Paul Little AO
Chairman
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Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Directors of Visit Victoria Limited 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Visit Victoria Limited (the company) and its 
controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

 consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018 
 consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 

ended 
 consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
 directors' declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including: 

 giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and the consolidated entity 
as at 30 June 2018 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
company and the consolidated entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 

Directors' 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial report  

The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of a financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, 
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the company and the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Directors, Visit Victoria Limited 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for Visit Victoria Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit. 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

  
 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 



86   VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2017-2018 VISIT VICTORIA  Annual Report 2017-2018   87   2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 
(continued) 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the company and the consolidated entity’s internal control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors  

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company and the consolidated 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the company and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
and business activities within the company and the consolidated entity to express an opinion 
on the financial report. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audit of the company and the consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion. 

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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